
MINUTES 
PLANNING BOARD  

TOWNSHIP OF CHATHAM 
December 19, 2016 

 
 

Mr. Thomas Franko called the meeting of the Planning Board to order at 7:31 P.M. 
 
Adequate notice of the meetings of the Planning Board of the Township of Chatham was given 
as required by the Open Public Meetings Act as follows:  Notice in the form of a Resolution 
setting forth the schedule of meetings for the year 2016 and January, 2017 was published in the 
Chatham Courier and the Morris County Daily Record, a copy was filed with the Municipal 
Clerk and a copy was placed on the bulletin board in the main hallway of the Municipal 
Building. 
 
Roll Call  
 
Answering present to the roll call were Mr. Franko, Mr. Hurring, Mrs. Swartz, Mr. Brower, Mr. 
Ciccarone, Ms. Hagner, Mr. Sullivan and Mr. Nelson.  Mr. Travisano and Mr. Murray were absent.  

 
Also present were Township Planner Frank Banisch, Board Attorney Steve Warner and Amanda 
C. Wolfe, Esq.     
  
Approval of Minutes 
 
Approval of the November 21, 2016 meeting was deferred to the next regular meeting.   
 
Resolution  
  
Mr. Warner said that this resolution is on the agenda again because clarifications were made to 
the language therein.   
 
Mr. Hurring asked about the purpose of redeveloping the Skate Park, and said that it is already 
zoned for affordable housing.  Mr. Banisch said that the designation allows for a Payment of 
Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) if the affordable housing is built.  He also said that if the Township 
Committee agrees that the site qualifies as being in need of redevelopment, they will likely direct 
the Planning Board to draft a redevelopment plan, which would include bulk requirements.   
 
Mr. Ciccarone said that the whole point of the designation is to allow for the PILOT, and the 
Township would benefit by keeping a larger percentage of the payment.   
 
Mr. Ciccarone moved to pass the resolution.  Mr. Nelson seconded the motion.   
 
Roll Call: Mr. Franko, Aye; Mr. Hurring, Nay; Mrs. Swartz, Abstain; Mr. Brower, Abstain; Mr. 
Ciccarone, Aye; Ms. Hagner, Abstain; Mr. Sullivan, Abstain; Mr. Travisano, Absent; Mr. 
Nelson, Aye; Mr. Murray, Absent.   
 



2 

Recusal  
 
Mr. Brower asked if he needs to recuse from the discussion of the proposal by Sun Homes & 
Sterling Properties due to the conflict of interest resulting from his family’s ownership of the 
Noe Pond Club and its proximity to the Skate Park.  He also asked if he could participate in the 
discussion.  Mr. Franko said that Mr. Brower should recuse from participation as a Planning 
Board member, but could still make comment as a member of the public.  Mr. Warner described 
the circumstances in which public body members should recuse themselves.   
 
Discussion 
 
Proposed Calendar for 2017 and January 2018 
  
Mr. Franko noted that a draft calendar for 2017 and January 2018 has been prepared.  Mr. 
LaConte noted that the meeting schedule will be formally approved at the Reorganization 
Meeting in January.   
 
Mr. Brower noted that before the meeting is adjourned, he would like to make a suggestion for 
the Board’s consideration regarding walkways.   
 
Re-Zoning of Dixiedale Farm, Block 66, Lot 1 
 
Attorney Douglas Henshaw, representing Sun Homes and Sterling Properties, said that the 
Planning Board requested that a presentation be made to describe the proposed development of 
the Dixiedale property.  He also said that he does not anticipate having sworn testimony at this 
meeting, however he and his clients are prepared should the Board want testimony.  Mr. 
Henshaw also noted that the plan available at this meeting is a conceptual plan, and does not 
have specific details.   
 
Mr. Warner reiterated that this is a concept plan review and an informal presentation.  He also 
noted that the presentation is a request for a zone change, and does not constitute a development 
application.  Mr. Warner also noted that the applicant and any speakers on their behalf do not 
need to be sworn in to give testimony.  The next step would be for the Board to authorize Mr. 
Banisch to prepare the necessary ordinance and documents for an amendment to the Housing 
Element of the Master Plan.   
 
Bob Dale, a principal of Sun Homes was present with Steve Katz of Sterling Properties to 
address the Planning Board.  Mr. Dale presented a slideshow and provided background on the 
two organizations and the partnership that they share.  He said that the organizations offer “best 
in class” housing, and have won several awards.  Mr. Dale also provided examples and pictures 
of previous developments built by the Sun Homes/Sterling Properties partnership.  Mr. Katz 
commented on the Rose Valle development, which is also located in Chatham Township.  Mr. 
Dale said that their firms design projects in-house, and they will remain involved through the 
completion of the project.   
 



3 

Mr. Hurring asked about the benefits of the two firms partnering.  Mr. Dale said that the two 
firms have different strengths and skill sets, and partnering also shares the risk.  Mr. Katz also 
said that the organizations do also build separate projects.  He also said that the principals of the 
two organizations are the ones with whom the Township would be dealing.   
 
Mr. Dale noted that the concept project for Dixiedale would include duplexes, and there would 
not be any middle-units.   
 
Mr. Franko asked about the anticipated turnover of the properties.  Mr. Dale said that they do not 
track turnover of the properties they have built.  He also commented on the anticipated 
demographic of buyers for the proposed development.  In addition to empty nesters, they see a 
lot of single professionals buy housing such as those which are proposed.  He also noted that a 
lot of buyers already have ties to the communities in which the units are located.  Mr. Dale also 
commented on the lack of traffic problems anticipated with the proposed conceptual 
development.   
 

1. James Reiss, 2F Heritage Drive, asked if the developer would consider having the 
development be age restricted to 55+.  Mr. Dale said that they are not seeking to have the 
development carry any age restriction.  He also said that the marketing of the units will 
not be geared toward families with school-aged children.   

 
Mr. Dale discussed the design of units with bottom-level master bedrooms compared with upper-
level master bedrooms.  The units will have three bedrooms including the master bedroom, and 
units can also include elevators.   
 
Mr. Dale also discussed the features of a clubhouse in the development.  The first floor of the 
mansion would be used for that purpose, while the second floor would be used for condo 
apartments.  It is also proposed to have a walking trail on the site.   
 

2. Joan Marie Scott, 551 Fairmount Ave, asked about the acreage on the existing plan.  Mr. 
Dale said that the property is 30.33 acres.  Ms. Scott asked if the development would be 
expanded across Hillside Ave.  Mr. Dale said that they do not plan to do so.  Mr. 
Ciccarone noted that the presence of a municipally owned open space tract on the 
opposite side of Hillside Ave, on which there is currently a walking trail.   
 

3. Susan Liggertwood, 26D Heritage Drive, asked about the number of units proposed.  Mr. 
Dale said that the concept is for 50 units in duplexes, and 4 units in what is now the 
mansion home.   

 
Ms. Hagner asked about the current zoning for the lot.  Mr. Dale said that it is zoned for 60,000 
square foot residential lots.   
  

4. Mr. Reiss said that the units at Melrose are high end, and asked why the developer is not 
considering age restricted units.  He also commented on the potential impact on the 
school district.  Mr. Ciccarone said that there would not likely be a significant impact on 
the school district.  Mr. Reiss also asked about the anticipated price range of the units.  



4 

Mr. Dale said that he expects the market value to be higher than the units at Rose Valle 
and approximately in the $1.5 million range.     
 

5. Douglas Grigg, 14G Heritage Drive, discussed traffic issues on Hillside Ave as they 
presently exist.  Mr. Banisch said that a site plan application for this project would not be 
approved until traffic studies are performed.   

 
6. Mr. Reiss asked about the anticipated timeframe from the developer’s purchase of the 

property to the issuance of approvals.  Mr. Katz said that there are several boards and 
agencies who would review the application before final approval.  He also said that 
infrastructure would need to be built before homes can be built, and it could take 12 to 18 
months from final approval until completion of the first home.  Mr. Ciccarone said that it 
is impossible to predict how long the Planning Board would take to approve a proposal.  
Mr. Dale said that he would expect three to four years until construction.   
 

Ms. Hagner said that 54 units sounds reasonable, and asked Mr. Banisch for his impression of 
the density.  Mr. Banisch said that the project is not trying to be dense on purpose.  Mr. Dale 
commented on the footprint of the site.   

 
7. Kathy Abbott, 40 Wynwood Road, asked if the general public would be allowed to use 

the proposed walkway on the site.  Mr. Dale said that it would be a public path.  Mrs. 
Abbott also asked about stormwater management.  Mr. Dale said that their developments 
use stormwater management techniques such as bioswales and rain gardens.   
 

8. Mr. Reiss asked about the connection between this site and potential affordable housing.  
Mr. Henshaw said that the need for affordable housing has to be taken into account when 
building developments such as what is proposed.  He said that his clients are willing to 
study the potential development of affordable housing on the site where the Skate Park is 
currently located, and they would build an equal number of affordable units as market 
rate units.  Mr. Banisch noted that the legal requirement for owner occupied units is for 
an affordable housing set aside of only one affordable unit for every five market rate 
units.  Mr. Warner noted that all New Jersey municipalities are required to allow for 
realistic development opportunity for affordable housing units, and the Township’s 
obligation, like hundreds of other municipalities’ obligations, has not yet been resolved as 
the matter is in litigation.   
 

9. Bailey Brower, 16 Driftway, asked how many acres at the Skate Park site are available 
for affordable housing.  Mr. Ciccarone said that 3.8 acres are available.  Mr. Katz cited 
examples of affordable housing that Sun Homes and Sterling Properties have built.  
Planner Mike Tobia addressed the potential impact that the affordable housing would 
have on the school district.   

 
Mr. Franko asked about the next steps.  Mr. Banisch said that the next step would be to 
determine if the Board generally concurs with the request to rezone the Dixiedale property.  Mr. 
Warner said that the Planning Board would also need to authorize Mr. Banisch to prepare a draft 
ordinance revising the land development ordinance and zone map, and the necessary documents 



5 

to amend the Master Plan accordingly, and a draft resolution was prepared.  Mr. Franko cited the 
clauses of the resolution.   
 
Mr. Sullivan asked if the rezoning should specify 54 units, or if it could be more general to give 
the Planning Board some leeway.  Mr. Ciccarone explained that the concept is to rezone the 
property in such a way that the applicant will not need variances.  Mr. Tobia asked if the 
rezoning could cap the density at 2 units per acre, that would zone for up to 60 units.   
 
Mrs. Swartz asked about an affordable housing set aside if the Skate Park affordable housing is 
not approved.  Mr. Banisch said that a set aside would be necessary, but he anticipates that the 
Skate Park property will be deemed an appropriate off-site location for the affordable housing 
requirement.   
 

10. Dot Stillinger of the Chatham Township Environmental Commission questioned if it is 
wise to have the affordable housing requirement met on a different site.   

 
Mr. Nelson moved to pass the resolution to generally concur that the Dixiedale property should 
be rezoned per the request, and authorizing Mr. Banisch to draft the necessary documents 
revising the Land Development Ordinance and zone maps, and amending the Housing Plan 
Element of the Master Plan, generally in accordance with the request from Sun Homes/Sterling 
Properties.   
 
Roll Call: Mr. Franko, Aye; Mr. Hurring, Aye; Mrs. Swartz, Aye; Mr. Brower, Recused; Mr. 
Ciccarone, Aye; Ms. Hagner, Aye; Mr. Sullivan, Aye; Mr. Travisano, Absent; Mr. Nelson, Aye; 
Mr. Murray, Absent.   
 
Mr. Sullivan moved to adjourn at 9:56 PM.  Ms. Hagner seconded the motion, and it carried 
unanimously.   
 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Gregory J. LaConte 
       Planning Board Recording Secretary  


	TOWNSHIP OF CHATHAM
	December 19, 2016


